#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v. CASE NO. SC11-1512

GREGORY G. GEISS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar #909130

kristen.davenport@myfloridalegal.com

WESLEY HEIDT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar #773026
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was charged by information with one count of felony driving under the influence ("DUI") and one count of driving with a suspended/revoked license. (R. 40). He subsequently filed a motion to suppress the results of his blood test, taken pursuant to a warrant issued by Judge David Silverman. (R. 26-32, 58-69).

A hearing was held on this motion on March 19, 2010. (R. 1-16). The trial court entered a written order granting the motion to suppress. (R. 122-33). The State timely filed its notice of appeal. (R. 134).

On May 27, 2011, the district court issued an opinion reversing the trial court's order, finding that the blood draw was proper under the Constitution and the implied consent statute, and that the officer acted in good faith in securing the warrant to draw blood. State v. Geiss, 36 Fla. L. Wkly. D1132 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA May 27, 2011). However, the court further held that obtaining a warrant for the blood in a misdemeanor case conflicted with the statute governing warrants. Id. at D1134-35. On July 22, 2011, the district court granted the State's motion to certify the following question of great public importance:

DOES SECTION 933.02(2)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES, PRECLUDE LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS FROM SECURING A WARRANT FOR A BLOOD DRAW IN MISDEMEANOR CASES INVOLVING AN ALLEGATION THAT A SUSPECT HAS DRIVEN WITH AN UNLAWFUL BLOOD ALCOHOL LEVEL?

State v. Geiss, 36 Fla. L. Wkly. D1575 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA July 22, 2011).

The State timely filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. On September 21, 2011, this Court issued its order accepting jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 5, 2009, the Defendant was stopped for the traffic offense of failing to maintain a single lane. (R. 5). He was not involved in an accident, and no one was injured or killed. (R. 6). The Defendant refused to perform requested field sobriety tests, and he refused to take a breath test. (R. 6). He was then arrested and taken to a hospital. (R. 6-7).

A search warrant was issued by Judge Silverman, authorizing medical personnel to draw the Defendant's blood for testing by law enforcement. (R. 26-32). The Defendant complied with the terms of the warrant. (R. 7). He testified that he would not have voluntarily given blood, but did so only because of the warrant. (R. 7-8).

The Defendant was ultimately charged with felony DUI, as this was his third offense in the last ten years. (R. 40). However, the affidavit for the search warrant alleged facts sufficient only for a charge of misdemeanor DUI, citing only one of the Defendant's prior DUI convictions. (R. 28-29).

The trial court entered an order granting the motion to suppress the blood test result, finding that issuing a warrant under these circumstances violated the Defendant's

constitutional right to privacy, the implied consent statute, and the search warrant statute. (R. 122-33). The State timely appealed from this order. (R. 134).

On appeal, the district court first concluded that the warrant violated neither the constitutional right to privacy nor the implied consent statute. Geiss, 36 Fla. L. Wkly. at D1133. However, the court went on to hold that the warrant was not properly issued where the officer only had probable cause to support a misdemeanor charge, as blood is not a "means to commit" the offense of DUI and accordingly not a proper subject of a warrant under section 933.02, the statute governing search warrants. Id. at 1133-34.

The district court ultimately reversed the trial court's order and remanded for further proceedings based on the court's finding that the officer who secured the Defendant's blood had relied on the search warrant in good faith. Id. at 1134.

The State timely moved for rehearing or certification, noting that this was an issue of first impression in Florida and that prosecutors had expressed concerns with the ramifications of the court's decision, as it had a great effect on the investigation of misdemeanor cases across the state. The

district court agreed, certifying a question of great public importance. <u>Geiss</u>, 36 Fla. L. Wkly. at D1575.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida statute governing warrants, section 933.02, allows a magistrate to issue a warrant for any "property" that is used as a "means to commit" any crime. The district court erred in finding that blood is not the "means to commit" the offense of driving under the influence. Blood infused with an excessive or unlawful level of alcohol is by definition the "means to commit" this offense, in that without such alcohol-infused blood the crime could not have taken place. The certified question should be answered in the negative and the district court's decision reversed.

#### ARGUMENT

ALCOHOL-INFUSED BLOOD IS THE "MEANS TO COMMIT" THE OFFENSE OF DUI, AND A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER CAN PROPERLY SEEK Α WARRANT FOR Α BLOOD DRAW IN MISDEMEANOR CASES INVOLVING ANALLEGATION THATSUSPECT HAS DRIVEN WITH AN UNLAWFUL BLOOD ALCOHOL LEVEL.

The district court has asked this Court to decide whether section 933.02, the statute governing search warrants, precludes law enforcement officers from securing a warrant for a blood draw in a misdemeanor case involving an allegation that a suspect has driven with an unlawful blood alcohol level. This question should be answered in the negative, and the district court's decision reversed.

Section 933.02, Florida Statutes, establishes the grounds for issuing a search warrant, providing in relevant part that a search warrant may be issued when any "property" has been used as "a means to commit any crime." § 933.02(2)(a), Fla. Stat. These two requirements were both satisfied here.

As the lower court correctly held, a suspect's blood does constitute "property" as that term is used in the statute.

Geiss, 36 Fla. L. Wkly. at D1135. While not specifically defined in the statute itself, the Legislature obviously used the term "property" in the broadest sense of the word, to indicate any tangible item that could be the subject of a

warrant. Nowhere is there any indication that this term excludes any substance that happens to be produced by the human body.

As the district court explained:

Blood may be extracted from the body and donated and/or sold for further use. And, blood has long been routinely seized for testing as evidence in many types of criminal cases. It only makes sense that the legislature would intend the term "property" to broadly include the types of physical items that would routinely be seized in connection with a criminal investigation.

<u>Id.</u> <u>Cf.</u> <u>Fitzpatrick</u> v. State, 900 So. 2d 495, 514 (Fla. 2005) (noting that obtaining blood sample from suspect through a search warrant "would have been a normal investigative measure"). See also State v. Powell, 257 P.3d 1244, 1248-49 (Kan. Ct. App. 2011) (blood qualified as "property" under search warrant statute); People v. King, 663 N.Y.S.2d 610, 614 (N.Y. App. Div. 1997) ("a blood sample is not unlike other tangible property which can be subject to a battery of scientific tests") (emphasis added).

While recognizing that blood is "property" subject to a warrant, the district court concluded that blood could not be the "means to commit" a crime, and accordingly blood could not be drawn based on probable cause that a suspect had committed

misdemeanor DUI. <u>Geiss</u>, 36 Fla. Law Wkly. at D1134. This conclusion was erroneous.

Section 933.02 does not define the phrase "means to commit" a crime. When a term is undefined by statute, "[o]ne of the most fundamental tenets of statutory construction" requires that courts give a statutory term "its plain and ordinary meaning." Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471, 473 (Fla. 1992). When necessary, the plain and ordinary meaning "can be ascertained by reference to a dictionary." Id. Here, the "means" to do something has been defined as "something that helps to attain an end; an instrument; a cause." Black's Law Dictionary (9th Ed. 2009).

As a logical matter, there must be a "means to commit" every crime. The offense alleged here, driving under the influence, is committed when a person drives while his normal faculties are impaired or while his blood-alcohol level is .08 or more grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood. § 316.193(1), Fla. Stat. In short, this crime has two elements — the defendant (1) drove while (2) his blood alcohol level was .08 or above.

Blood infused with an excessive or unlawful level of alcohol is, then, by definition the "means to commit" this offense, in that without such alcohol-infused blood the crime

could not have taken place. 1 As the means to commit this offense, then, the Defendant's blood was the proper subject of a warrant.

The district court's decision too narrowly interprets the statute governing search warrants, effectively eliminating such warrants in cases where an officer has probable cause to believe that an individual has been operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of drugs or alcohol and takes the laudable step of seeking the intervention of a neutral and detached magistrate to resolve this issue. The State submits that this narrow interpretation of section 933.02 is not required by the plain language of the statute and contravenes public policy encouraging officers to secure warrants. As the United States Supreme Court has stated:

A grudging or negative attitude by reviewing courts toward warrants is inconsistent both with the desire to encourage use of the warrant process by police officers and with the recognition that once a warrant has been obtained, intrusion upon interests protected by the Fourth Amendment is less severe than otherwise may be the case.

Massachusetts v. Upton, 466 U.S. 727, 733 (1984) (citation and quotation omitted).

Neither the Defendant nor the district court suggested any other possible "means" for this offense.

Section 933.02(2)(a), Florida Statutes, does *not* preclude law enforcement officers from securing a warrant for a blood draw in misdemeanor cases involving an allegation that a suspect has driven with an unlawful blood alcohol level. The certified question should be answered in the negative, and the decision of the district court reversed.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein,

Petitioner respectfully requests this honorable Court reverse

the decision of the district court and answer the certified

question in the negative.