#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v. Case No. SC11-1512

GREGORY G. GEISS,

Respondent.

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ERNEST L. CHANG, Esq. Florida Bar No. 867550 ANGELA MERIAH PARK, Esq. Florida Bar No. 679542 6767 N. Wickham Rd., Suite 400 Melbourne, FL 32940 (321)255-6300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

# **

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

A search warrant cannot be issued for blood in driving under the influence cases pursuant to section 933.02, Florida Statutes. Blood flowing through the human body is neither "property" nor the "means to commit" the crime of driving under the influence. Sections 316.1932 and 316.1933 Florida Statutes (2009), provide the exclusive means for obtaining blood in driving under the influence cases. The certified question should be answered in the affirmative and it is requested that this Court consider answering the broader question of whether search warrants can be issued for blood in both misdemeanor and felony driving under the influence offenses.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Even though the district court certified the narrow question of whether search warrants can be issued for blood draws in misdemeanor cases of driving under the influence (hereinafter "DUI"), Respondent respectfully requests this Court examine the broader question of whether search warrants can be used to obtain blood in both misdemeanor and felony DUIs. This Court may examine all issues argued before the lower court. *See*, Russell v. State, 982 So.2d 642 (Fla. 2008) and Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982).

While concurring that a question should be certified in this case, Judge Torpy dissents as to the narrowness of the question certified by the majority and opines, "only an answer to the broader question will put an end to judicial labor on this topic," <u>State v. Geiss</u>, 36 Fla. L. Wkly. D1575 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA July 22, 2011). Judge Torpy suggests the more appropriate certified question in this case be:

Is the right to refuse a forced blood draw under the implied consent law, as recognized in Sambrine v. State, viable when the blood draw is authorized by warrant? If not, may a warrant issue to seize blood when the police only have probable cause that a misdemeanor has been committed." <u>Id</u>.

Should this Court choose only to address the narrow question posed by the district court, Respondent respectfully requests this Court answer it affirmatively. If as Respondent urges, this Court answers the broader question set forth by Judge Torpy, Respondent would respectfully request this Court answer the first part of

the question in the affirmative, which would render an answer to the second part of the question unnecessary.

SECTION 933.02(2)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES, PRECLUDES LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS FROM SECURING A WARRANT FOR A BLOOD DRAW IN MISDEMEANOR CASES INVOLVING AN ALLEGATION THAT A SUSPECT HAS DRIVEN WITH AN UNLAWFUL BLOOD ALCOHOL LEVEL.

Petitioner argues blood is the "means to commit" the offense of DUI and therefore a warrant should be permitted to issue even where there is only probable cause to believe a misdemeanor DUI has been committed. Sections 933.02(2)(a), Florida Statutes (2009), permit issuance of a search warrant "When any property shall have been used; (a) As a means to commit any crime." Section 933.02(3), Florida Statutes (2009), permits issuance of a search warrant, "When any property constitutes evidence relevant to proving that a felony has been committed." There is no definition of "property" or "means to commit" in chapter 933. Petitioner contends blood can be the subject of a search warrant and cites a case where dicta mentions a search warrant could have been obtained for blood. Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So.2d 495, 514 (Fla. 2005). However, in Fitzpatrick this Court was not being asked to decide whether the language of the search warrant statute would permit issuance for compelling blood. Respondent can find no previous cases in Florida where application of the search warrant statute to drawing blood has been challenged on the grounds that blood is not "property" that can be the subject of a search warrant. The word "property" is used in sections of the search warrant statute interpreted to pertain to both felonies and misdemeanors. "[P]roperty used to commit any crime- whether felony or misdemeanor- may be seized under a warrant; while property merely constituting relevant evidence of a crime may be seized only if the suspected crime is a felony." <u>Bordo v. State</u>, 627 So.2d 561, 563 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993).

A court in Rhode Island has thoroughly examine the word "property" as it relates to the search warrant statute in that state and its meaning as applied to blood. "[N]o living person or people, or their constituent living parts, can be lawfully considered as property." State v. Dearmas, 841 A.2d 659, 663 (R.I. 2004)<sup>1</sup>. The statute at issue in Dearmas had language very similar to the search warrant statute in Florida. It provided, in relevant part, that a warrant may be issued for "property..." as a means of committing a violation of law; or... [w]hich is evidence of the commission of a crime." R.I. Gen. Laws §12-5-2(1999).

"Construing blood and other body parts seized from living human beings as 'property' would raise a host of practical and interpretative problems." <u>Id</u>. The

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The search warrant statute at issue in this case was later amended by the legislature to add language permitting issuance for blood. *See*, <u>State v. Gomes</u>, 881 A.2d 97 (R.I. 2005)(holding a search warrant should not have issued pursuant to the holdings in <u>DiStefano</u> and <u>Dearmas</u>, *supra*, but finding the error harmless in light of other overwhelming evidence in the case).

Court went on to reason, "were we to construe blood samples to be seized from unconsenting living people as 'property,' then we would soon face arguments that courts can issue even more intrusive warrants for the seizure of other body parts and biological material, and, indeed, of living persons themselves if needed to prove a criminal case." Dearmas, 841 A.2d at 664. The Court in Dearmas discusses public policy concerns prohibiting the use of search warrants to forcibly extract blood from suspects citing "[v]iolent confrontations" between suspects and police and "many dangerous and unintended consequences that should be dealt with and prevented by legislative enactment, not by judicial fiat." (citations omitted) Dearmas, 841 A.2d 659 at 666.

Blood, as it is pumping through a person's veins, cannot be and is not the "means" to commit the crime of DUI, or any other crime for that matter. Statutes are to be interpreted using their plain and ordinary meaning. Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984). The common understanding of the phrase "means to commit," as applied to the crime of DUI, would be the instrumentality that is used to commit the crime of DUI- namely the vehicle. If blood were the "means to commit" any crime and could be obtained through use of a search warrant, it is foreseeable that blood might be sought in other types of misdemeanors such as disorderly intoxication or even possession of marijuana.

While the search warrant statute at issue in <u>DiStefano</u> and <u>Dearmas</u>, *supra*, was amended by the Rhode Island legislature to specify for its use for blood, Florida's legislature has never signaled its intent that the search warrant statue be used for obtaining specimens from the human body. There is a separate rule of Criminal Procedure allowing for the collection of specimens, including blood, after the filing of a charging document. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.220(c).

The implied consent statute was intended to provide the exclusive method to obtain direct evidence of a suspect's blood alcohol content. Florida statutes expressly provide penalties for refusing to consent to a chemical sobriety test. §316.1939, Florida Statutes (2009). It is true there is no language in Florida's implied consent statute like there is in the statutes of many other states expressly stating that if a person refuses chemical testing, then no other test shall be given. See, State v. Adee, 241 Kan. 825, 740 P.2d 611, 614 (1987); State v. DiStefano, 764 A.2d 1156, 1161 (R.I. 2000); State v. Hitchens, 294 N.W. 2d 686, 687 (Iowa 1980). However, Florida's implied consent statute has been interpreted to give its citizens a right to refuse testing. Sambrine v. State, 386 So.2d 546 (Fla. 1980). Respondent in this case affirmatively refused to submit to a breath test. A careful reading of the implied consent statute "leads to the inescapable conclusion that a person is given the right to refuse testing. If this were not so, it is unclear why the legislature provided for a definite sanction." <u>Id</u>. At 548.

Until the legislature chooses to change the search warrant statute and define property to include bodily fluids, the implied consent statute, as a specific statute, controls the circumstances under which a suspect can be compelled to give blood in DUI cases. "It is a well settled rule of statutory construction, however, that a special statute covering a particular subject matter is controlling over a general statutory provision covering the same and other subjects in general terms." Adams v. Culver, 111 So.2d 665, 667 (Fla. 1959). The legislature did not intend for blood to be drawn for DUIs pursuant to the search warrant statute. If it did, the language in sections 316.1932 and 316.1933, Florida Statutes (2009) providing for specific circumstances under which a person is deemed to have given consent or when blood may be forcibly drawn, would be utterly meaningless.

## **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this honorable Court answer the certified question in the affirmative.